ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Edgefield County

Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

SEP 10 2013

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ALEXANDER L. HUNSBERGER,

APPELLANT

Appellate Case No. 2012-206608

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

J

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the trial court's failure to dismiss the pending criminal charge against Appellant violate his state and federal constitutional rights to a speedy trial where the crime allegedly took place on September 3, 2001, Appellant was arrested on January 25, 2002, but the case was not called for trial until January 3, 2012, almost a decade after Appellant's arrest?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by the Edgefield Grand Jury for murder on March 25, 2002 pursuant to Indictment 2002-GS-19-109. Indictment. The prosecution, represented by Ervin Maye and Frank Young, called the case for trial on January 3, 2012 before the Honorable Clifton Newman. Michael Chesser represented Appellant at the trial. R. 1. The jury found Appellant guilty of murder. R. 198, lines 9-12. Judge Newman sentenced Appellant to thirty-three years. R. 220, line 25 – R. 220, line 2; Sentence sheet.

Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal. This brief follows.

ARGUMENT

The trial court's failure to dismiss the pending criminal charge against Appellant violated his state and federal constitutional rights to a speedy trial where the crime allegedly took place on September 3, 2001, Appellant was arrested on January 25, 2002, but the case was not called for trial until January 3, 2012, almost a decade after Appellant's arrest.

On January 25, 2002, the state charged Appellant with the murder of Samuel J. Sturup, which the state alleged occurred on September 3, 2001. R. 2, lines 10-15; R. 7, lines 14-15; R. 8, line 3; R. 29, lines 22-23; Indictment. Thereafter, the Grand Jury indicted him for murder on March 25, 2002. R. 7, lines 9-14; Indictment.

Pretrial Motions

On June 14, 2002, Appellant was denied bail. Subsequently, a bond hearing was held before the Honorable William P. Keesley on April 29, 2004. Judge Keesley denied bail again; however, he provided that if the state failed to try Appellant during the next term, then Appellant could renew his motion. On November 17, 2004, Appellant filed a motion to dismiss the charges against him or release him on a personal recognizance bond based upon the state's failure to give him a speedy trial, denial of due process, unreasonable confinement without bail, and a violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 17-23-90. Judge Keesley heard arguments on the motion in December 2004. R. 8, lines 4-16; Motion filed 11/17/2004.

By order filed December 3, 2004, Judge Keesley denied the motions. Nevertheless, he remarked: "the court is deeply concerned about the length of time that has transpired without bringing [Appellant] to trial." Judge Keesley found "[t]here years in jail awaiting trial on this charge is clearly bordering on excessive." As a result, Judge Keesley offered to

establish a special term of court to resolve the case “during February.” Judge Keesley provided that Appellant could renew his motions if the case were not tried in February 2005. R. 8, lines 4-16; Order filed 12/3/2004.

Judge Keesley’s order recognized the unique nature of Appellant’s criminal charge – the involvement of multiple co-defendants and jurisdictions and the possibility that South Carolina could seek the death penalty. Despite these challenges, Georgia “ha[d] disposed of the cases involving the co-defendants over a year ago.” Additionally, the “court ha[d] instructed the Solicitor’s office on at least two prior occasions that it must make a decision about whether to serve the death penalty notice.” The court “again admonished [the state] that unless immediate steps [were] taken to bring this case to trial promptly, the court [would] have no option under the constitutions of the United States and South Carolina except to release the defendant from jail in South Carolina.” Order filed 12/3/2004

Thereafter, Appellant renewed his motion for dismissal of the charge based upon the state’s failure to give him a speedy trial, denial of due process, unreasonable confinement without bail, and a violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 17-23-90. By order filed January 28, 2005, Judge Keesley denied the motion to dismiss, but granted Appellant a personal recognizance bond in the amount of \$50,000. His order noted that Appellant would be released to Georgia due to the hold placed on him. According to the order, the prosecution informed the court that it would not “take advantage of the offer to create a special term” of court and had no intention of trying the case in February 2005. R. 8, lines 16-21; Order filed 1/28/2005.

The state agreed to release custody of Appellant to the State of Georgia. R. 8, line 22 – R. 9, line 20; R. 23, line 25 – R. 24, line 2; R. 30, lines 13-16. On September 12, 2006,

Appellant was tried and convicted in Georgia for kidnapping Sturup. R. 9, lines 21-22; R. 23, lines 17-24.

At some point, the prosecutor learned that although Appellant received a life sentence in Georgia, he was eligible for parole after service of a term of years. R. 3, line 24 – R. 4, line 4 (Prosecutor informed the judge that he received conflicting information from the Georgia authorities, but believed Appellant would be eligible for parole “sometime within the next six, seven years.”); R. 15, line 16 – R. 18, line 15. After Appellant was tried and convicted in Georgia in 2006, the first attempt by the prosecutor to extradite Appellant to South Carolina was “in the first part of 2011” following Barnes’ conviction in November of 2010. R. 25, lines 21-23. The prosecutor claimed that South Carolina was unable to pick up Appellant from Georgia in order to try him during the previous term of court, October of 2011. R. 25 line 25 – R. 26, line 9.

When the prosecutor was preparing the case against Barnes for trial, he sought Appellant’s cooperation. He asked Appellant to testify against Barnes. Appellant declined to assist the state in its prosecution of Barnes. According to the prosecutor, Solicitor Myers “did not know whether or not he would notice” Appellant for death. Ultimately, the Solicitor elected not to seek Appellant’s death, and instructed the prosecutor to proceed against Appellant on the outstanding murder charge. R. 4, lines 14-25; R. 25, lines 3-17; R. 29, lines 15-19.

Prior to the start of Appellant’s trial in South Carolina, Appellant filed a written motion to dismiss the charge against him based upon the state’s violation of his right to a speedy trial. As an initial matter, Appellant explained the state set his trial a decade after his arrest. Appellant argued the state’s significant delay in calling his case for trial resulted in

presumptive prejudice. R. 11, line 17 – R. 15, line 15; Motion dated 1/3/12. Appellant argued that he had “no burden of pointing to specific prejudice.” R. 19, lines 12-24; Motion dated 1/3/12. Nevertheless, Appellant provided at least one example of prejudice - during the capital trial of Steven Barnes, Appellant’s co-defendant, a witness, Richard Cave, testified that his testimony was the result of what he actually remembered and what he read in transcripts and statements. R. 20, line 24 – R. 21, line 18.

The prosecutor countered that “[a]t the outset of this case, Solicitor Myers did determine that he intended to seek the death penalty against Mr. Barnes. Up until the time that Mr. Barnes was convicted in November of 2010, Solicitor Myers was not sure whether or not he intended to seek the death penalty against [Appellant] or not. He delayed that decision until after Steven Louis Barnes’ trial was finished and he was sentenced to death as to whether or not he was going to notice [Appellant].” R. 23, lines 3-16.

The prosecutor also argued that Appellant “knew this charge was outstanding against him in South Carolina” and that he could not “assert his right once or twice and then rest on his laurels and do nothing.” R. 24, lines 12-20. According to the prosecutor, Appellant did nothing in seven years, since 2005, “other than attempt to delay coming back here and being tried through his contesting extradition and not wanting us to proceed at the last term of court.” R. 24, lines 21-25; R. 27, lines 6-11. According to the prosecutor, Appellant was required to make “some continual effort” to assert his constitutional rights. R. 31, lines 2-10.

The prosecutor further argued that the delay was to Appellant’s benefit. He “felt like [Appellant] should ... have the same opportunity to cooperate that the other codefendants in this case received.” R. 26, lines 10-16; R. 26, line 24 – R. 28, line 10. The

prosecutor claimed "it was the intent of the State at all times to proceed against [Appellant], but [he] was over in Georgia serving a life sentence." R. 27, lines 3-6; R. 38, lines 18-23. He claimed "there was certainly no malice in any decision on the State to delay the prosecution.... It was my hope that they would testify against Mr. Barnes. I felt like they should receive the same opportunity as the other codefendants." R. 29, lines 10-15; R. 31, lines 10-12.

The prosecutor claimed Appellant contested extradition. R. 25, lines 23-24. On this issue, Appellant testified that in September 2011, his counselor presented him with a form explaining that if he signed the form, he would be consenting to extradition to South Carolina. If he chose not to sign the form, then he would have twenty days to file a writ of habeas corpus to contest extradition. Appellant did not sign the form, explaining he wanted to speak with his attorney to determine any impact upon his appeal, which was pending in Georgia. Appellant did not file any paperwork or make any motions to contest extradition. Appellant stated unequivocally that he was willing to go to South Carolina. R. 35, line 6 - R. 38, line 9.

When the judge asked the prosecutor to explain why the case was not called for ten years, the prosecutor explained the prosecution "intended to proceed against Steven Louis Barnes first." R. 30, lines 6-12. He further stated "in all candor, the State tried for years to try Steven Louis Barnes and eventually it took another judge being assigned to the case in order for us to get it tried." R. 30, lines 20-24; R. 31, lines 12-14.

According to Judge Newman, this was the first case he had where ten years had passed between the arrest and trial. R. 39, lines 6-9. He described it as a unique situation because of the "cross-border issues" of Georgia and South Carolina wanting to pursue cases

against the same individuals, of each defendant asserting individual constitutional rights, and of the prosecution wanting to pursue a capital case. R. 41, line 24 – R. 42, line 6. Judge Newman refused to presume prejudice “given the facts.” He found the prosecutor “ha[d] demonstrated legitimate reasons for the delay given the complex nature of the cases, the problems involving prosecutions in multiple jurisdictions.” R. 42, line 20 – R. 43, line 2. In a later discussion, Judge Newman characterized the case as follows: “what I heard from the solicitor is that they wanted to first do the capital trial and that they delayed this case to do the capital trial and it was their hope and desire that [Appellant] would testify in that case.” R. 48, lines 15-19.

Testimony of Richard Cave

At the trial, the prosecution presented testimony from Richard Cave, an individual charged in Georgia and South Carolina regarding criminal acts against Sturup. R. 95, lines 16-25; R. 96, lines 1-5. Cave testified that he was friends with Barnes and that on Labor Day weekend of 2001, he and Antonio Griffin were with Barnes and others at a house in Georgia. R. 73, line 5 – R. 74, line 2; R. 75, lines 7-10. Cave observed Barnes arguing and fighting with Sturup. R. 74, line 18 – R. 75, line 6; R. 76 line 16 – R. 77, line 9. Later, Appellant and his brother arrived at the house in Augusta. R. 79, lines 12-14. Everyone got into cars and arrived at a field in South Carolina. R. 82, lines 1-8; R. 82, line 24 – R. 83, line 1; R. 85, lines 15-18. Cave observed Sturup exit the trunk of the car in which the Hunsbergers were traveling. R. 86, lines 9-13. The group walked to a wooded area where Barnes instructed each person to shoot Sturup. R. 86, lines 17-25; R. 88, line 18 – R. 89, line 1. Cave testified that after Charlene Thatcher shot Sturup, he shot Sturup. R. 89, lines

3-12. He and Thatcher left the area. He heard four more shots, but did not see the shooter.

R. 89, lines 15-20.

On cross-examination, Cave agreed that he had testified in 2006 in a trial against Appellant in Georgia and in 2010 against Barnes regarding the events of that evening. R. 97, lines 14-16. He admitted that his testimony during the 2006 and 2010 trials was different from his testimony in 2012 in at least one respect – whether any one conversed after the shooting. R. 98, line 11 – R. 100, line 19; R. 112, lines 12-23.

Testimony of Antonio Griffin

Antonio Griffin testified against Appellant as well. He testified similarly to Cave regarding how the two arrived at Barnes' house and what they observed. R. 125, lines 8-24; R. 126, lines 6-19; R. 128, lines 1-25. Griffin testified that Barnes instructed him to fight Sturrup. Griffin and Sturrup fought for about twenty seconds before Barnes broke it up. R. 126, line 20 – R. 127, line 4. According to Griffin, Appellant and his brother arrived after the fight. R. 132, lines 8-12. In line with Cave's testimony, Griffin testified that everyone got in to cars, left Georgia, and went to South Carolina. R. 133, lines 2-6. Barnes instructed everyone to exit the cars at gunpoint. R. 135, lines 9-11. Griffin also observed Sturrup exit the trunk of the car. R. 135, lines 11-24.

According to Griffin, everyone walked through the woods to an open space. Barnes told everyone they would shoot Sturrup. When Thatcher resisted shooting Sturrup, Barnes threatened to shoot her if she disobeyed him. Griffin testified that after Thatcher shot Sturrup, one of the Hunsbergers grabbed the gun from her and shot Sturrup. Someone thrust the gun at Griffin who "shot at the ground." Cave got the gun, but Barnes instructed them to

go to the car. While walking across the field, Griffin heard another shot. R. 138, line 25 – R. 138, line 13.

At the time of Appellant's trial, Griffin had pled guilty to assault in Georgia and received an eighteen year sentence for his involvement in the beating of Sturup, but he had "potential charges for the events that occurred related to the murder" in South Carolina. R. 143, lines 1-11.

Griffin did not remember everything he said in his statement to law enforcement on January 23, 2002. R. 143, line 19 – R. 144, line 1. He agreed that his testimony had been different from his statement regarding which of the Hunsbergers he observed do what. R. 144, lines 2-24. Griffin testified against Appellant in 2006 in Georgia. His testimony was different then as well. R. 143, line 25 – R. 146, line 11.

Testimony of Charlene Thatcher

Charlene Thatcher testified similarly to Cave and Griffin. She was a prostitute from Massachusetts who moved to Augusta, Georgia in August of 2001. R. 160, lines 3-10. She was with Barnes on Labor Day weekend of 2001. R. 160, lines 19-25. She observed Barnes, Griffin, Cave, William Harris, and Sturup outside the green house. She and Sturup were beaten for allegedly stealing money. R. 161, lines 1-24. She testified that Appellant and Julio arrived after the beatings. R. 162, lines 14-16. Barnes instructed Sturup to get into the trunk of the Hunsbergers' car. The others got into vehicles and left the area. R. 163, lines 7-22. When the cars stopped, she saw Sturup get out of the trunk. The group then walked into the woods. Barnes instructed Sturup to pick a place to die. R. 164, line 7 – R. 165, line 9. After the group stopped, they "shot him, each one time." She

shot Sturrup first in the stomach, then Barnes shot Sturrup in the head. She “freaked out and got crazy” and did not remember anything else. R. 165, lines 11-19.

On cross-examination, Thatcher testified that it was difficult to remember what she said ten years ago. R. 172, lines 7-14. After being confronted with her statement to police, she admitted that she had engaged in multiple armed robberies with Barnes. R. 172, line 15 – R. 173 , line 13. Initially, she denied that Barnes threatened everyone present that if they did not shoot Sturrup, then he would shoot the resister. R. 181, lines 4-7; R. 181, lines 21-23; R. 184, lines 10-24. However, when she was confronted with her testimony from Barnes’ trial, she agreed she had testified that Barnes threatened everyone. R. 185, line 8 – R. 186, line 17.

At the time of Appellant’s trial, Thatcher had pleaded guilty to aggravated assault in relation to beating Sturrup in Georgia. She understood she faced potential charges for her conduct in South Carolina. R. 168; lines 1-6; R. 179, lines 2-6. She had been convicted of armed robbery on August 26, 2003 and of prostitution on January 1, 2002. R. 170, lines 5-21.

Renewal of Motion

Appellant renewed his motion to dismiss at the close of the state’s case. Appellant argued that the changes in the testimony of the witnesses, which had been demonstrated through cross examination, provided an example of the prejudice Appellant suffered. Appellant pointed to the poor memories of Griffin and Thatcher due to the passage of time. Concerning the prejudice factor, Appellant indicated the delay was “so substantial and was due entirely to prosecutorial discretion” and therefore, Appellant had no burden to show

specific prejudice. Appellant also reminded the court that prejudice is only one factor for consideration. R. 194, line 22 – R. 195, line 25.

Judge Newman again denied the motion. He was persuaded that “given the number of trials and different proceedings that were taking place both here and in the state of Georgia involving these defendants and others ... it’s something that is inherent after sorting out that process.” Judge Newman remarked that Appellant had not “been deprived his liberty because he’s incarcerated under another sentence.” He found no prejudice to Appellant. R. 196, line 9 – R. 197, line 13.

Sentencing proceeding

During the sentencing proceedings, Appellant asked Judge Newman for a thirty-year sentence and to start his sentence as of the date of his arrest on January 25, 2002. R. 201, line 3 – R. 202, line 13; R. 204, lines 11-18. The prosecution asked for the judge to “hand down a sentence that would ensure that he is never released again.” R. 203, line 10 – R. 204, line 1. Judge Newman stated that “[t]he law of this state for anything who is sentenced would be entitled to credit for the time that they’ve served. ... I would think that you’d be entitled to credit for time served.” R. 217, lines 10-16. Although the sentence sheet indicated Judge Newman ordered Appellant to receive credit for time served as calculated by the Department of Corrections pursuant to the statute, the record lacked any affirmative indication that Appellant would receive credit for the ten years he waited disposition of this matter. R. 234

Discussion

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides “In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy trial.” U.S. Const. amend. VI; see

also Klopper v. North Carolina, 386 U.S. 213 (1967); Wheeler v. State, 247 S.C. 393, 147 S.E.2d 627 (1966). Additionally, our state constitution guarantees that “[a]ny person charged with an offense shall enjoy the right to a speedy trial.” S.C. Const. art. I, § 14. “The main goals of this right are to prevent undue pretrial incarceration, minimize the anxiety stemming from public accusation of a crime, and limit the possibility of long delays impairing an accused’s defense.” State v. Langford, 400 S.C. 421, ___, 735 S.E.2d 471, 481 (2012)(citing State v. Waites, 270 S.C. 104, 107, 240 S.E.2d 651, 653 (1978)). If a court concludes a defendant’s right to a speedy trial has been violated, dismissal of the charges “is the only possible remedy.” Barker v. Wingo, 407 U.S. 514, 522 (1972).

The United States Supreme Court explained “[t]he right to a speedy trial is necessarily relative. It is consistent with delays and depends upon the circumstances.” Beavers v. Haubert, 198 U.S. 77, 87 (1905). Therefore, the Court explained the appropriate analysis for a speedy trial claim is “a balancing test, in which the conduct of both the prosecution and defendant are weighed.” Barker, 407 U.S. at 529. The Barker Court “identif[ied] some of the factors which courts should assess in determining whether a particular defendant has been deprived of his right.” Those four factors are the length of the delay, the reason for the delay, the defendant’s assertion of his right, and prejudice to the defendant. Id. at 530; see also Doggett v. United States, 505 U.S. 647 (1992); Vermont v. Brillon, 556, U.S. 81, 129 S.Ct. 1283 (2009); State v. Foster, 260 S.C. 511, 197 S.E.2d 280 (1973); State v. Monroe, 262 S.C. 346, 204 S.E.2d 433 (1974); Waites, 270 S.C. at 107, 240 S.E.2d at 653; State v. Brazell, 325 S.C. 65, 75, 480 S.E.2d 64, 70 (1997); State v. Evans, 386 S.C. 418, 688 S.E.2d 583 (Ct. App. 2009). However, “none of the four factors

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