ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM EDGEFIELD COUNTY
Court of General Sessions
Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge

The State, Respondent,
v.

Alexander L. Hunsberger, Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2012-206608

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN W. MCINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 14244

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211-1549
(803) 734-6305

DONALD V. MYERS
Solicitor, Eleventh Judicial Circuit
205 E. Main Street
Lexington, SC 29072
(803) 785-8285

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

At any rate, the reasons for the delay are more dispositive of the lack of a violation than the block of time Appellant relies upon. *See Doggett*, 505 U.S. at 652 n. 1 (“We note that, as the term is used in this threshold context, ‘presumptive prejudice’ does not necessarily indicate a statistical probability of prejudice; it simply marks the point at which courts deem the delay unreasonable enough to trigger the *Barker* enquiry.”); *State v. Cooper*, 386 S.C. at 217, 687 S.E.2d at 66, quoting *State v. Pittman*, 373 S.C. 527, 549, 647 S.E.2d 144, 155 (2007) (“...the determination that a defendant has been deprived of this right is not based on the passage of a specific period of time, but instead

is analyzed in terms of the circumstances of each case, balancing the conduct of the prosecution and the defense.””).

The Reason for the Delay

Barker provides not only should the reason for the delay be considered, but also that those reasons should be examined as to relative justification:

Closely related to length of delay is the reason the government assigns to justify the delay. Here, too, different weights should be assigned to different reasons. A deliberate attempt to delay the trial in order to hamper the defense should be weighted heavily against the government. A more neutral reason such as negligence or overcrowded courts should be weighted less heavily but nevertheless should be considered since the ultimate responsibility for such circumstances must rest with the government rather than with the defendant. Finally, a valid reason, such as a missing witness, should serve to justify appropriate delay.

Barker v. Wingo, 407 U.S. at 531.

The reason for the delay here is multifaceted. There were at the outset of the prosecution two jurisdictions vying for the opportunity to pursue charges against a minimum of six individuals who participated in varying respects with the assault, kidnapping and murder. Further, the murder with aggravating circumstance(s) allowed for consideration of capital proceedings. In fact, capital proceedings were sought against Steven Barnes who is now sentenced to death for Samuel’s murder. The State expressed its intent to try Barnes first, and the delay in Barnes’ capital case caused additional delays in the subsequent trials. (R. p. 30, lines 17-24). The record well supports Judge Newman’s findings on the complexity of the case.

Certainly, complexity in the case is a valid reason for delay in the proceedings. *Pittman*, 373 S.C. at 552, 647 S.E.2d at 157 (“Although it took a long time for the case to come to trial, any delay was the result of the complexities of this case.”); *Cooper*, 386

S.C. at 218, 687 S.E.2d at 67 (noting “complexity of the case and the amount of time required to prepare for trial” in assessing justification for the delay). *See also United States v. Brown*, 498 F.3d 523, 531 (6th Cir. 2007) (“the reasons for the delay weigh against finding a Sixth Amendment violation. First, the charges were complex, involving multiple defendants and” multiple charges); *United States v. Bass*, 460 F.3d 830, 837 (6th Cir. 2006) (“With regard to the five-year period between Bass’s arraignment and trial, it is apparent that the government was not any more to blame than Bass for this delay either. Bass’s case was complex, involving a large-scale drug and murder conspiracy that, at one point, encompassed seventeen defendants. That the delay was caused by the case’s complexity favors a finding of no constitutional violation.”); *United States v. King*, 483 F.3d 969, 976 (9th Cir. 2007) (noting complex cases with “numerous defendants and alleged co-conspirators”); *United States v. Register*, 182 F.3d 820, 827 (11th Cir. 1999) (noting “the complex nature of the charges and sheer number of defendants and issues involved also account for some of the delay”). Judge Newman correctly identified the complexity of the case in the number of defendants, the number of trials, the prosecutions in two States, and the capital proceedings for co-defendant Barnes.

Further, attempting to “collect witnesses” is a valid cause for delay. *See Doggett v. United States*, 505 U.S. at 656 (“Our speedy trial standards recognize that pretrial delay is often both inevitable and wholly justifiable. The government may need time to collect witnesses against the accused, oppose his pretrial motions, or, if he goes into hiding, track him down. We attach great weight to such considerations when balancing them against the costs of going forward with a trial whose probative accuracy the passage of time has begun by degrees to throw into question.”). *See also Barker v. Wingo*, 407 U.S. at 531 (“a

valid reason, such as a missing witness, should serve to justify appropriate delay.”). Contrary to Appellant’s assertion that the State acted improperly in offering Appellant the opportunity to testify against Barnes, (FBOA, p. 18), this offer actually shows the State did not place isolated or undue pressure on Appellant. The State had success in securing many of the co-defendants to testify against Barnes, and, the offer to allow the Hunsbergers to testify “might [have] go[ne] toward their benefit.” (See R. p. 4, lines 14-25; p. 26, lines 10-16). As the State acknowledged, it was their right to decide not to testify against Barnes. (R. p. 26, line 17 – p. 27, line 6). Even so, they had the same opportunities as the other co-defendants. This even treatment does not lend itself to attack here as evidence of an attempt to harm the defense. It is, however, a facet of the complexity.

Further still, it is clear from the record that the State immediately set out to bring the Hunsbergers back to this jurisdiction for trial upon completion of the capital proceedings against Barnes. (R. p. 25, line 21 – p. 26, line 6). There was no delay of any consequence in seeking Appellant’s return after the capital proceedings concluded.

It should be noted, as well, that the State had relinquished custody in early 2005. Georgia did not try the case until September 2006. The State could not seek simultaneous trials as these are separate sovereigns. This nearly two-year period may not be attributed directly to the State. *See United States v. Battis*, 589 F.3d 673, 679-680 (3rd Cir. 2009) (separating federal and state charges for purposes of speedy trial analysis, but finding decision to wait on state prosecution weighed against federal government, though not heavily as the federal government was not “intentionally undermining the defense”); *United States v. Seltzer*, 595 F.3d 1170, 1178 (10th Cir. 2010) (“We agree with our sister

circuits that awaiting the completion of another sovereign's prosecution may be a plausible reason for delay in some circumstances..."). Cf. *State v. Robbins*, 590 A.2d 1133, 1136-1137 (N.J. 1991), quoting *State v. Williams*, 224 A.2d 331 (N.J. 1966) ("Inasmuch as it is impossible for a person to be in two places at the same time, where one owes penalties to two separate sovereigns, one sovereign must relinquish its claim and allow the other to exact its penalty first."). After conviction, Appellant began service of his Georgia sentence in Georgia. (See R. p. 24, line 12-25). In fact, Appellant testified at the pre-trial hearing on the motion to dismiss that one of his reasons for not agreeing to extradition was he "needed to find out" how leaving Georgia would affect his Georgia appeal. (R. p. 36, lines 16-23). This marked hesitancy in returning to the State fails to show a desire for a speedy trial here. Again, this time should not count against the State. This is most assuredly so where Appellant simply did nothing to force prosecution in South Carolina, though he had the ability to do so.

The Defendant's Assertion of the Right

Without question, Appellant asserted his right in late 2004 and again January 2005. This resulted in a bond that allowed Georgia to obtain custody and subsequently try Appellant on the kidnapping charge. (R. p.226 [January 28, 2005 Order]). Essentially, Appellant moved for relief under Section 17-23-90 and appropriate relief was granted at that time. (R. p. 222 [Notice of Motion and Motion for Speedy Trial]). See generally *State v. Campbell*, 277 S.C. 408, 288 S.E.2d 395 (1982) (denying speedy trial claim pursuant to statute where S.C. Code § 17-23-90 provides for release if not indicted and tried within certain time frame, not dismissal of the charge). After this grant of relief,

however, Appellant failed to reassert or pursue his constitutional right to a speedy trial at any point until immediately before his January 2012 trial.

“[T]he defendant’s assertion of or failure to assert his right to a speedy trial is one of the factors to be considered in an inquiry into the deprivation of the right.” *Barker v. Wingo*, 407 U.S. at 528. Multiple assertions of the right will weigh heavily in a defendant’s favor. *See, for example, United States v. Bass*, 460 F.3d at 837 (“Between his arraignment and trial, Bass filed three motions to dismiss based upon speedy trial grounds: (1) in January 1999, two months after the arraignment; (2) in March 2000; and (3) in March 2002. Accordingly, Bass asserted his right to a speedy trial, and this factor weighs in his favor.”).

As noted, Appellant failed to do anything to assert a speedy trial issue after he was released to Georgia in early 2005 until the time of his trial in January 2012. (See R. p. 17, lines 21-25, acknowledging no request during six to seven years of the delay). In fact, he declined to allow extradition in 2011. (R. p. 36, lines 13-23). Unlike his co-defendant Steven Barnes, he did not seek return and prosecution under the Interstate Detainer Act. Thus, in assessing the delay, the fact that Appellant failed to assert his right to a speedy trial after his release to Georgia is significant. *State v. Foster*, 260 S.C. 511, 197 S.E.2d 280 (1973) (finding no violation where during five of the seven year delay at issue, neither the State nor defendants “pursued the matter” and a “failure to assert the right will make it difficult for the defendants to prove that they were denied a speedy trial”). *See also United States v. Wanigasinghe*, 545 F.3d 595, 599 (7th Cir. 2008) (in review of eleven year delay after indictment but before arrest: “Wanigasinghe did not request a speedy trial during the time he was out of the country. We agree with the

district court's finding that he likely knew he had been charged with a crime but nevertheless did nothing to take care of the charges; quite the opposite. His failure to request a speedy trial is also a factor which weighs against him.”).

Simply, during the time that Appellant now argues the “cross-border” jurisdiction issues were resolved and the trial, (see FBOA, p. 18), Appellant did not request return or trial. This must weigh heavily against him. *Barker v. Wingo*, 407 U.S. at 536 (“barring extraordinary circumstances, we would be reluctant indeed to rule that a defendant was denied this constitutional right on a record that strongly indicates, as does this one, that the defendant did not want a speedy trial.”).

Whether There Is Prejudice to the Defendant

As noted above, the delay itself is not dispositive of whether a violation has occurred. Neither is the time at issue dispositive of prejudice. *Pittman*, 373 S.C. at 551, 647 S.E.2d at 156) (rejecting Pittman’s argument “that the delay of his trial was so lengthy that it not only meets the requisite finding of delay, but also that the delay is presumptively prejudicial”). Other courts have examined similar delays and declined to find presumptive prejudice. See *United States v. Blanco*, 861 F.2d 773, 778 (2nd Cir. 1988) (rejecting general assertion of prejudice in ten year delay between indictment and trial where defendant at fault in delay and where “delay can just as easily hurt the government’s case”); *United States v. Tchibassa*, 452 F.3d 918, 925-927 (D.C.Cir. 2006) (finding no presumptive prejudice where defendant more at fault than government in eleven year delay). Accord *United States v. Mendoza*, 530 F.3d 758, 764-765 (9th Cir. 2008) (noting that if government had “exercised due diligence,” for speedy trial claim on delay of eight years, defendant would have had to have shown “specific prejudice to his

defense” rather than assessing presumptive prejudice). The Supreme Court in *Barker* specifically noted the damage that may very well be done to the prosecution’s case:

A second difference between the right to speedy trial and the accused’s other constitutional rights is that deprivation of the right may work to the accused’s advantage. Delay is not an uncommon defense tactic. As the time between the commission of the crime and trial lengthens, witnesses may become unavailable or their memories may fade. If the witnesses support the prosecution, its case will be weakened, sometimes seriously so. And it is the prosecution which carries the burden of proof. Thus, unlike the right to counsel or the right to be free from compelled self-incrimination, deprivation of the right to speedy trial does not per se prejudice the accused’s ability to defend himself.

Barker v. Wingo, 407 U.S. at 521.

Even though Appellant was tried for the 2002 charge in January of 2012, he had ample opportunity to thoroughly cross-examine the witnesses against him, including making use of prior sworn testimony – testimony that was available as a result of multiple actions both in South Carolina and Georgia. (See R. p. 19, line 24 – p. 21, line 9; p. 22, lines 18-25). Further, he does not contend any exculpatory witness or testimony is not unavailable. Appellant has twice been convicted (once in Georgia, once here) on evidence of participation in the events that led to Samuel’s murder, and readily admits his presence during the crime. (See R. p. 187, line 8 – p. 193, line 5; p. 216, lines 8-13). Appellant argues, though, that the passage of time affected extent of memory and credibility of the witnesses against him. (See FBOA, p. 19; R. p. 194, line 22 – p. 195, line 13). In effective rebuttal, the trial transcript demonstrates credibility was challenged by use of prior transcripts which preserved sworn testimony, (See R. p. 97, line 14 – p. 100, line 19; p. 144, line 25 – p. 145, line 5), and that contemporaneous notes were used to refresh memories, (See R. p. 144, lines 2-24; p. 172, line 7 – p. 173, line 13). The multiple trials and statements in essence preserved and/or created testimony for this

Appellant's use to his benefit. At any rate, as Judge Newman found, there was no evidence of prejudice to Appellant based on the passage of time:

Regarding ... problems the witnesses had remembering, Counsel did an effective job at pointing out to the witnesses in cross-examining them and impeaching them on prior inconsistent statements. The fact that there is a transcript to go over your testimony available, it accounts the opportunity to refresh the witness' recollection and to impeach where needed[.]

In looking at it, the trial to this point - - looking back I indicated in retrospectively on a position of prejudice, I don't see where the defendant has been prejudiced in any way. Based on the lapse of time, for the most part, everyone seems to have a pretty vivid memory. Of course, these matters will probably - - probably be forever etched in the memories and minds of people who were there involved, eye witnesses.

(R. p. 196, line 22 – p. 197, line 11).

His ruling is well supported and his reasoning sound.

Further, though Appellant's case was considered for capital proceedings, the State ultimately decided against seeking the death penalty for Appellant. (R. p. 23, lines 3-16). As such, the length of the delay in this aspect certainly holds no prejudice to Appellant. *See Cooper*, 386 S.C. at 218, 687 S.E.2d at 67 (“Judge Pieper noted the State withdrew its notice to seek the death penalty; thus, the withdrawal could be construed as a benefit to Cooper resulting from the delay.”).

As far as Appellant's argument referencing credit for time served, (see FBOA, p. 19), this was not raised as a ground for the speedy trial motion. This argument is procedurally barred. *See, e.g. State v. Byram*, 326 S.C. 107, 113, 485 S.E.2d 360, 363 (1997) (appellant's failure to raise constitutional issue to the trial court barred review on appeal); *State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 694 (2003) (“A party may

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